Petitioner Kevin Hanson submits this brief in support ofhis appeal from the Circuit Court's 

final order denying his motion for new trial and the jury's verdict. The trial of this matter was 

conducted in such a manner that Petitioner's fundamental right to a fair trial was compromised. 

Judge Kaufman interjected himself into the trial by asking 74 questions of witnesses during the 

two day trial, asking questions ofnearl y every witness presented to testify, and conducting in depth 

and extensive examinations of several key witnesses designed and having the effect of eliciting 

testimony favorable to the Respondent and prejudicial to Petitioner. Further, Judge Kauf'inan

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. The trial court erred in denying Petitioner's Motion for New Trial based on the trial 
being conducted in a manner that was fundamentally unfair to Petitioner Kevin 
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Hanson, by ruling that no error existed regarding the trial court's numerous 
prejudicial comments and questions of witnesses meant to elicit testimony and 
evidence favorable to Respondent. 

B. 	 The trial court erred in denying Petitioner's Motion for New Trial, by ruling that it 
did not err in permitting Respondent to present testimony in Respondent's case in 
chief from Petitioner's retained private investigator regarding his retention by 
Petitioner to conduct surveillance on Respondent and his efforts to conduct the same, 
over Petitioner's objection and when Petitioner declared he would not call said 
private investigator as a witness at trial. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Summary of the facts 

Respondent Larry Keeling, Jr. and Petitioner Kevin Hanson were involved in an 

automobile accident on August 30,2014. Respondent was operating a motorcycle traveling south 

on Route 119 in South Charleston, Kanawha County, West Virginia at the time of the accident. 

Petitioner Kevin Hanson recently left Lowes Home Improvement and pulled into the north bound 

lanes of Route 119. Petitioner was operating a pickup truck which was pulling a trailer loaded 

with lumber and lost control of his vehicle, which caused his truck and trailer to crash into the 

median dislodging the wood into Respondent's lane of travel, which Respondent then struck. 

Ultimately, Respondent suffered two broken ribs and tears of the ACL and MCL ofhis right knee. 

Respondent underwent an MCL repair surgery in December of 2014 and an ACL surgical repair 

in April of2015, each surgery followed by a prescribed course of physical therapy. Respondent's 

medical bills ultimately totaled $71,947.97, which were stipulated by Petitioner prior to trial. 

Respondent asserted that his knee injury and residual symptoms left him unable to return to his 

prior job as a fence installer at McNeil Fence Company and left him with pain and suffering, 

emotional distress, and a loss of enjoyment of life. 

B. Proceedings before the trial court 
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Respondent filed his Complaint against Petitioner Kevin Hanson with the Circuit Court of 

Kanawha County, West Virginia on September 23,2015. Six weeks later on November 6,2015, 

the Honorable Tod. J. Kaufman entered a Scheduling Order scheduling the trial date ofthis matter 

for May 2,2016, less than six months from the date ofthe Scheduling Order's entry, at the request 

ofRespondent's counsel and over the objection of Petitioner's counsel given the amount and type 

of discovery needed for Petitioner to prepare his defenses to Respondent's claims. See A.R. 

000880. Due to having such a short period for discovery, the parties scrambled to take depositions 

of several fact witnesses, four experts for Respondent (vocationalistleconomist George Barrett, 

retained orthopedic expert Dr. David Shamblin, and treaters Dr. Dameron and Dr. Felder), and 

three experts for Petitioner (vocationalist Casey Vass, economist Roger Griffith, and retained 

orthopedic expert Dr. David Soulsby), and IMEs were performed on Respondent's right knee by 

experts for both parties. The extremely short discovery period set forth in the Scheduling Order 

resulted in the parties conducting depositions of several fact witnesses, including Plaintiff Larry 

Keeling, on May 11 and 12,2016, during the two days before Voir Dire was conducted on May 

13,2016. See A.R. 001526-001527. 

On May 11,2016, two days prior to voir dire, Respondent's counsel emailed Petitioner's 

counsel and asked whether he had anyone conduct surveillance on Respondent and indicated he 

had previously requested any reports, photos and videos taken during surveillance in written 

discovery served on Petitioner on October 22, 2015. See A.R. 001548-001549. Petitioner had 

timely responded to that request for production on December 4, 2015 indicating that Petitioner had 

no such surveillance reports, photos or videos, which was truthful and accurate at that time, and 

generally objecting to being required to produce such materials protected from disclosure via the 

work product doctrine. See A.R. 000881-000897. In late November 2015, Petitioner retained John 

3 




Perrine as a private investigator to conduct surveillance of the Respondent. Aside from an 

independent medical examination, surveillance is the only appropriate and permissible means 

available in discovery to test the veracity of Respondent's claims as to ongoing functional 

limitations with his right knee. John Perrine recently served as the Chief of Police of the City of 

Winfield, West Virginia from 2012 to 2015 and is a retired U.S. Marshall of 25 years. The 

response was truthful and accurate, because as of December 4, 2015, neither Petitioner nor 

Petitioner's counsel knew of or had possession of any photographs, videos or reports resulting 

from such surveillance. 

John Perrine made several trips to various areas outside of Respondent's home during 

November and December of 2015 and January of 2016 to establish Respondent's patterns of 

coming and going. In late December 2015, Mr. Perrine sent Petitioner's counsel a few photographs 

taken during those trips. Mr. Perrine then conducted more lengthy surveillance for several hours 

each day on February 12, 13 and 14, where he followed Respondent in his vehicle and shot video 

of Respondent walking and engaging in various activities. In late February 2016 John Perrine 

reported to Respondent's counsel that he did not obtain much usable video or photographic 

evidence that would be valuable in the case. In late February or early March 2016, Mr. Perrine 

sent Petitioner's counsel his written report containing all photographs and videos he took. See 

generally A.R. 001550-001569. Petitioner's counsel reviewed the material and having found it to 

be of little significant value, set it aside and had no further thoughts of the surveillance report. 

Petitioner did not supplement his prior discovery response to advise of the existence of such 

materials, because Petitioner's counsel had forgotten about the discovery request until being 

prompted by Respondent's counsel by email on May 11, 2016 and Petitioner's counsel had 

determined he would not be using such evidence at trial. 
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After getting Respondent's counsel's email on May 11, 2016, Petitioner immediately 

reviewed the original discovery requests, saw that those materials had been requested, and 

immediately responded by email disclosing that surveillance had been conducted and photos, 

videos, and a report existed, but advised that Petitioner would not use the surveillance materials at 

trial and would object to Respondent using them at trial due to the fact that those materials were 

Petitioner's work product. See A.R. 001549; See also A.R. 001528-001531. Nonetheless, 

Petitioner's counsel supplemented the prior discovery responses and produced a copy of the 

photographs, videos, and report of Mr. Perrine to Respondent's counsel so that Respondent's 

counsel would have a full and fair opportunity to raise any discovery or evidentiary issues he 

wished with the trial court. 

Respondent filed a Motion for Sanctions on May 12, 2016, regarding the delay in 

disclosure of the report and surveillance materials and requested as a sanction that the Court 

sanction Petitioner by allowing Respondent to call Petitioner's retained private investigator, Mr. 

Perrine, as a witness at trial in Respondent's case in chief. See A.R. 001542-001546. Moreover, 

Respondent's counsel issued a subpoena to Mr. Perrine, who was in Florida at the time, and had 

the Putnam County Sheriff call Mr. Perrine and direct him to return to West Virginia to appear at 

the trial. See A.R. 001585-001588. The Honorable Tod J. Kaufman heard and considered the 

Motion for Sanctions the following day on Friday, May 13,2016, and directed Petitioner to have 

Mr. Perrine present at trial at 9:00 a.m. on May 16,2016, over Petitioner's objection and despite 

the fact that Petitioner's counsel advised the Court that Mr. Perrine was in Florida on a family 

vacation and beyond the area of the Court's subpoena power. See A.R. 001698-001699. Judge 

Kaufman then advised that further hearing would take place on Respondent's Motion for Sanctions 

at 9:00 a.m. on May 16, 2016, possibly involving either Mr. Perrine or Petitioner's counsel 
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testifying under oath as to the pertinent issues. See A.R. 001708-001709. Petitioner complied 

with the Court's Order and contacted Mr. Perrine and advised him of the Court's Order and Mr. 

Perrine travelled back up to Charleston, West Virginia and appeared at trial as directed. 

Petitioner filed a Response to Respondent's Motion for Sanctions asserting that Petitioner's 

original discovery response was true and accurate when served and explaining that when the 

photographs, video and report were later received in late February or early March of 2016, that 

response was not supplemented, because Petitioner's counsel had forgotten about the discovery 

request. See A.R. 001713-001715. Moreover, that Response explained that when Petitioner's 

counsel received and reviewed the surveillance materials, he deemed them of no significance and 

decided not to use them at trial and simply placed them in the file and did not think further about 

them. Id. Petitioner further asserted that the eight week delay in disclosure of the materials did 

not prejudice Respondent in any way, as Petitioner had decided not to use the materials at trial. 

See A.R. 001715-001716. In addition, Petitioner asserted that the only proper sanction that has 

ever been recognized by this Court for such a delay is to preclude the use of such materials at trial, 

which was a moot issue since Petitioner had decided not to use the materials anyway. See A.R. 

001719-001722. Finally, Petitioner asserted that the materials could not properly be used by 

Respondent at trial, because they were defense work product materials, Respondent had made no 

showing of substantial need to use such materials, and because Respondent's intended use for the 

surveillance materials at trial was solely to prejudice Petitioner by suggesting to the jury that it 

was improper, inappropriate, or ethically wrong for Petitioner to conduct surveillance on 

Respondent during discovery. Id. On the morning of trial and over Petitioner's objections, the 

trial court granted Respondent's Motion for Sanctions and ruled that Respondent would be 

permitted to call Petitioner's retained private investigator as a witness at trial and could question 
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him about his retention on behalf of Petitioner and his surveillance activities.! See A.R. 000033

000049. 

Prior to trial, Petitioner stipulated to liability and to the amount of Petitioner's medical 

expenses being $71,947.97. See A.R. 001532 As a result, the only issues left to the jury's 

determination were Respondent's past and future lost wages and pain and suffering and other 

general damages. Voir Dire commenced on May 13,2016, trial commenced on May 16,2016, 

and concluded on May 18, 2016. The jury found for Respondent finding Petitioner liable for 

$71,947.97 for past medical expenses, $26,814.00 for past lost wages, $75,000 for future lost 

wages and benefits, and $375,000.00 for past and future physical pain and suffering, mental and 

emotional distress and loss ofenjoyment of life. See A.R. 000648. Respondent's total award was 

$548,751.97. Id. The Judgement Order was entered on May 25, 2016 in the amount of 

$305,250.402• See A.R. 001725-001727. Petitioner contends that the verdict, and more 

specifically the awards for future lost wages and pain and suffering, was excessive and brought 

about by the trial court's improper questioning of witnesses and conduct to elicit testimony and 

evidence favorable to Respondent, inflammatory comments toward Petitioner's counsel and 

witnesses, and improperly permitting Respondent's counsel to present highly prejudicial evidence 

of and argument to the jury regarding Respondent's retention of Mr. Perrine to conduct 

surveillance and his activities in conducting surveillance. Petitioner filed a Motion for New Trial 

on June 6, 2016, which was supplemented on July 18,2016 after the full trial transcript became 

available. See A.R. 001728-001765. On July 29,2016, the Circuit Court issued a Final Order 

1 Ultimately, Judge Kaufman imposed a further sanction post-trial on July 29, 2016 by requiring Petitioner to 

reimburse Respondent $644.10 for the costs incurred in attempting to subpoena John Perrine to appear at trial, 

See A.R. 001904-001905, from which Petitioner also seeks relief. 

2 Petitioner was given an offset of $250,000, which was previously paid as a partial settlement by Petitioner's 

primary insurer as policy limits of that policy. 
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denying the Respondent's Motion for New Trial. See A.R. 001899-001903. Thereafter on August 

29,2016, Petitioner timely provided Notice ofhis Appeal. 

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Petitioner's appeal focuses on two issues. First, the trial court improperly interjected itself 

into examination of witnesses and the conduct of trial to the extent that Judge Kaufman became 

an active advocate for the Respondent, and second, the trial court improperly permitted 

Respondent to call Petitioner's retained private investigator as a witness for Respondent and to 

allow Respondent to elicit, and then highlight, prejudicial testimony regarding his retention by 

Petitioner and the fact that he conducted surveillance on Respondent, which Respondent's counsel 

then argued to the jury was inappropriate, unethical or unlawful. That conduct led the jury to 

award an excessive verdict to Respondent, in particular as to his claims for future lost wages and 

pain and suffering and other general damages. Due to the trial court's conduct depriving Petitioner 

of any opportunity for a fair trial, Petitioner post-trial filed a Motion for New Trial, which the trial 

court then erred in denying. 

First, Petitioner is entitled to new trial because the trial court's conduct prejudiced 

Petitioner and prevented him from having an opportunity to receive a fair trial. In total, the trial 

court advanced 74 separate questions eliciting pro-Respondent testimony and provided off-handed 

comments that could only be perceived by the jury as being pro-Respondent during the course of 

a two day trial. Most ofthese numerous comments, questions, and proffered opinions went directly 

to the heart of the very limited issues that were presented to the jury for its determination. The 

trial court's favorable treatment and demeanor towards Respondent and his witnesses was in stark 

contrast to the treatment Petitioner's witnesses received. The trial court went as far to ask 

Respondent rehabilitative questions during Petitioner's counsel's cross-examination of 
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Respondent, directed Respondent's fonner work supervisor to exit the witness stand while 

testifying to step in front of the jury and perfonn a live demonstration as to why Respondent could 

not return to his pre-injury occupation, and asked nearly every one of Respondent's witnesses 

leading questions meant to elicit favorable testimony for Respondent's case. The jury undoubtedly 

perceived this unequal, partial and biased treatment, which projected the impression that the trial 

court favored Respondent and his positions in the case, making Petitioner's efforts to defend those 

claims appear less than credible, invalid and improper. The trial court's conduct compromised the 

atmosphere of impartiality which it was required to maintain and the trial court's numerous 

comments and leading questions constituted advocacy for Respondent's case ultimately making 

the jury verdict unreliable. 

Second, the trial court also erred in pennitting Respondent to call Petitioner's retained 

private investigator, John Perrine, at trial to elicit testimony regarding his retention by Petitioner 

and his actions in conducting surveillance, all ofwhich was intended as nothing more than an effort 

to prejudice Petitioner in the eyes of the jury as if the conduct of such surveillance is somehow 

improper in litigation. John Perrine was retained by Petitioner's counsel to aide counsel in 

preparing a case strategy and evaluation. Petitioner's counsel did not designate him as a witness 

in the case and had no plans to call him as a witness at trial. However, the trial court compelled 

the attendance ofMr. Perrine and pennitted Respondent to present his testimony at the trial ofthis 

matter. The sole purpose for Respondent's counsel to call Mr. Perrine to testify was to prejudice 

Petitioner in the eyes ofthe jury. Respondent's counsel did so not only by eliciting such testimony 

from Mr. Perrine on the stand, but then highlighting that prejudice in his closing arguments by 

suggesting that Petitioner improperly caused Mr. Perrine to conduct surveillance on Respondent 

rather than paying Respondent for the damages he incurred in the subject accident. Furthennore, 
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while on the stand, John ferrine was questioned about and offered opinions as to Respondent's 

injuries and functional limitations that Mr. Perrine clearly lacked the proper foundation for and 

was unqualified to offer. Thus, the trial court should not have allowed Respondent to call John 

Perrine as a testifying witness, and this error unfairly prejudiced Petitioner entitling him to a new 

trial. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Petitioner states that this matter is appropriate for oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the 

West Virginia Appellate Procedure because there was an unsustainable abuse of discretion by the 

trial court. Therefore, Petitioner requests that this matter be placed on this Court's Argument 

Calendar for Rule 19 oral argument. 

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Regarding Petitioner's assignment oferror concerning the trial court's denial of its Motion 

for New Trial, the trial court's decision will be examined under an abuse of discretion standard. 

See Marsch v. Am. Elec. Power Co., 207 W. Va. 174, 180,530 S.E.2d 173, 179 (W. Va. 1999) 

("As a general proposition, we review a circuit court's rulings on a motion for a new trial under an 

abuse of discretion standard.); citing Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, Inc., 194 W. 

Va. 97, 104,459 S.E.2d 374, 381 (1995). This Court can also grant reversal of the trial court's 

decision to deny Petitioner's Motion for New Trial if it " ... is reasonably clear that prejudicial 

error has crept into the record or that substantial justice has not been done." JWCF, LP v. 

Farruggia, 232 W. Va. 417, 426, 752 S.E.2d 571, 580 CW. Va. 2013); citing Neely v. Belk Inc., 

222 W. Va. 560, 566,668 S.E.2d 189, 195 (W. Va. 2008). "A party is entitled to a new trial 'if 

there is a reasonable probability that the jury's verdict was affected or influenced by trial error. ,,, 

Herbert J. Thomas Mem. Hosp. Ass'n v. Nutter, 2016 W. Va. LEXIS 889, *39-40 * CW. Va. Nov. 
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17,2016); citing Tennant v. Marion Health Care Found., Inc., 194 W.Va. 97,111,459 S.E.2d 

374,388 (1995). Petitioner's assignment oferror concerning the trial court permitting Respondent 

to present testimony at trial from Petitioner's retained private investigator will also be reviewed 

under an abuse of discretion doctrine. See McDougal v. McCammon, 193 W. Va. 229,232,455 

S.E.2d 788, 791 (W. Va. 1995) ("Absent a few exceptions, this Court will review evidentiary and 

procedural rulings of the circuit court under an abuse of discretion standard.") 

VI. ARGUMENT 

A. 	 The Court's numerous prejudicial remarks and extensive questioning ofwitnesses 
to elicit testimony favorable to Respondent compromised the jury's impartiality, 
thereby denying the Petitioner the opportunity for a fair trial and a reliable 
verdict. 

This Court has opined time and time again how important it is for the trial court to remain 

impartial in appearance before the jury. The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has 

explained that Canon 2A of the West Virginia Code ofJudicial Conduct provides that a judge 

"shall act at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality 

of the judiciary" and that Canon 3B(5) states that, "a judge shall perform judicial duties without 

bias or prejudice." "Ajudge shall not, in the performance ofjudicial duties, by words or conduct 

manifest bias or prejudice ...." State v. Thompson, 220 W.Va. 398, 647 S.E.2d 834, 844 (2007). 

This Court has highlighted the importance of those canons in the manner in which the trial court 

conducts trial and more specifically in the court's questions, comments and gestures in front ofthe

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