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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The jury's verdict in this case consisted of stipulated medical expenses in the amount of 

$71,947.97, past lost wages of$26,814, future lost wages of $75,000, and past and future general 

damages in the amount of $375,000. A number of issues were stipulated to prior to trial 

2 Although the trial court granted to Motion for Sanctions and permitted Plaintiff to use this evidence at 
trial, Plaintiff did not introduce the Report, videos or a majority ofthe photographs at trial. Plaintiff 
called the investigator as a fact witness so he could describe his observations of Plaintiff. 

3 Petitioner does not cite this issue as error in his Motion and, therefore, the issue is moot. 
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including, inter alia, liability, causation, medical expenses in the amount of $71,947.97, and the 

fact that Respondent incurred lost wages and sustained physical pain and mental suffering as a 

result of Petitioner's negligence. (AR 572-574).4 The only issues to be determined by the jury 

were the amount to be awarded to Respondent for general damages and for lost wages. (AR 

1729). 

Petitioner introduced substantial evidence to support the jury's verdict for economic and 

non-economic damages, calling ten (10) fact and expert witnesses. Conversely, Petitioner called 

two witnesses at trial, an orthopedic surgeon and economist. Like Respondent's experts, 

Petitioner's orthopedic expert agreed that Respondent could not return to his previous 

employment, that his knee condition was permanent in nature, and that he would have pain for 

the rest of his life. (AR 509-518). 

Petitioner erroneously claims that a new trial is warranted in that: (1) the circuit court 

judge asked questions of witnesses during the trial; and (2) Respondent called a private 

investigator as a fact witness. Importantly, Petitioner failed to object during trial to what he now 

claims is error and the issues are waived. Indeed, regardless of waiver, Petitioner's arguments 

fail to establish a basis upon which a new trial may be granted. 

Neither the trial court judge's questions nor the record considered as a whole support 

Petitioner's argument that the jury's verdict is unreliable or that his right to a fair trial was 

compromised. As is clear from the citations in the trial transcript highlighted by Petitioner, the 

questions posed by the circuit court judge were conducted in an impartial manner and were not 

improper, much less prejudicial so as to warrant a new trial in this case. Moreover, the trial court 

properly permitted the testimony of the investigator at trial and the use of the investigator's 

report, photographs and videos where these materials were voluntarily produced to Respondent 

4 Many of these stipulations were in the form of responses to requests for admission. 
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thereby waiving any work product privilege - and where the investigator was permitted to testify 

as a fact witness to discuss his observations of Respondent, his activities and the severity of his 

mJunes. 

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Respondent respectfully requests oral argwnent pursuant to Rule 19 of the West Virginia 

Rules of Appellate Procedure. A Rule 19 argwnent is appropriate because the Petitioner alleges 

an unsustainable exercise of discretion. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

The issue before this Court is whether the trial court erred in denying Petitioner's Motion 

for New Trial. It is well-settled that the ruling of a circuit court concerning a new trial and its 

conclusion as to the existence of reversible error will not be reversed absent abuse of discretion 

by the trial court. Herbert J. Thomas Mem'l Hosp. Ass'n v. Nutter, No. 15-0695,2016 WL 

6833116, at *13 (W.Va. Nov. 17, 2016), citing, Tennant v. Marion Health Care Found., Inc., 

194 W.Va. 97, 104,459 S.E.2d 374, 381 (1995). As tIns Court has consistently recognized, "[a] 

party is entitled to a new trial 'if there is a reasonable probability that the jury's verdict was 

affected or influenced by trial error.''' Id. at *13, quoting, Tennant, 194 W.Va. at 111, 459 

S.E.2d at 388. 

Notably, with respect to the proceedings before the trial court, Petitioner does not 

complain about voir dire, opening statements, closing arguments, or that the jury was incorrectly 

charged. Rather, Petitioner's entire argument to support his request for a new trial is premised 

upon two issues: (1) the circuit court judge asked questions of witnesses during the trial; and (2) 

Respondent called a private investigator as a fact witness. Importantly, Petitioner failed to object 
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during trial to what he now claims is error and the issues are waived.5 Indeed, regardless of 

waiver;Petitioner's arguments lack merit as is discussed below. 

A. 	 THE TRIAL COURT JUDGE'S QUESTIONS TO WITNESSES PROVIDE NO 
BASIS UPON WHICH TO ORDER A NEW TRIAL 

Petitioner claims that a new trial is warranted in that the circuit court judge's questions 

posed to witnesses during the trial of this action supposedly "prejudiced Petitioner and prevented 

him from having an opportunity to receive a fair trial." (Petitioner's Brief, p. 8). In particular, 

Petitioner argues that the circuit court judge purportedly "elicit[ ed] pro-Respondent testimony" 

from witnesses "which projected the impression that the trial court favored Respondent ... " 

(Petitioner's Brief, pp. 8, 9). Despite the lack of objection to any of the trial court judge's 

questions to witnesses at trial, Petitioner now complains that he was prejudiced by these 

questions. 

The West Virginia Rules of Evidence specifically permit the trial court to ask questions 

of witnesses and outline the procedure for a party to follow if the questions are believed to be 

improper by a party to the litigation. Rule 614 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence provides 

as follows: 

Rule 614. Court's Calling or Examining a Witness 

(a) Calling. The court may call a witness on its own or at a party's request. Each 
party is entitled to cross-examine the witness. 

(b) Examining. The court may examine a witness regardless of who calls the 
witness. In jury trials the court's examination shall be impartial so as not to 
prejudice the parties. 

(c) Objections. A party may object outside the presence of the jury to the court's 
calling or examining a witness. 

W.Va. R. Evid. 614. 

5 Petitioner raised these issues for the first time after the jury's verdict. At no time during trial did 
Petitioner object to the issues he now claims warrants a new trial. 
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Importantly, while Petitioner now deems the questions posed to witnesses by the trial 

court judge as objectionable, at no time did he object to any question by the court at trial. While 

Petitioner speculates that he may have caused harm to his case by objecting to the trial court 

judge's questioning of witnesses during the trial, Rule 614 of the Rilles of Evidence provides a 

remedy to avoid exactly this type of potential harm by permitting a party to "object outside the 

presence of the jury to the court's calling or examining a witness ..." W.Va. R. Evid. 614(c). At 

no time during that trial did Petitioner voice any objection to the judge's questioning of any 

witness; accordingly, pursuant to the plain directive of Rule 614 of the Rules of Evidence, 

Petitioner waived the issue of which he now complains and upon which he seeks reversal of the 

trial court, setting aside the jury's verdict, and a new trial. 

Moreover, Petitioner's failure to object as is required by Rule 614 cannot be cured by the 

"plain error" doctrine. "To trigger application of the 'plain error' doctrine, there must be (1) an 

error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, 

integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." Syl. Pt. 4, Alexander ex reI. Ramsey v. 

Willard, 208 W.Va. 736, 742, 542 S.E.2d 899, 905 (2000), quoting, Syl. Pt. 7, State v. Miller, 

194 W.Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). As recognized by this court, "[a]n unpreserved error is 

deemed plain and affects substantial rights only if the reviewing court finds the lower court 

skewed the fundamental fairness or basic integrity of the proceedings in some major respect. In 

clear terms, the plain error rille should be exercised only to avoid a miscarriage of justice. The 

discretionary authority of this Court invoked by lesser errors should be exercised sparingly and 

should be reserved for the correction of those few errors that seriously affect the fairness, 

integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." Id. at Syl. Pt. 3, quoting, Syl. Pt. 7, 

State v. LaRock, 196 W.Va. 294,470 S.E.2d 613 (1996). 
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As stated, the plain language of Rule 614 authorizes the trial court to question witnesses 

"provided that the questioning is done in an impartial manner so as not to prejudice the parties." 

Herbert J. Thomas l'v!em'/ Hosp. Ass'n v. Nutter, No. 15-0695,2016 WL 6833116, at *13 (W.Va. 

Nov. 17,2016), quoting, Syl. Pt. 3, State v. Farmer, 200 W. Va. 507, 507-15,490 S.E.2d 326, 

326-34 (1997). Indeed, this Court has "explained that judges are 'not only authorized to ask 

questions of a witness from the bench, but may in some instances be required to do so' " when, 

for example, "it is necessary to expound upon matters not sufficiently developed by counsel." 

Farmer, 200 W. Va. at 513, 490 S.E.2d at 332, quoting, State v. Massey, 178 W.Va. 427, 436, 

359 S.E.2d 865, 874 (1987), and citing, United States v. Ostendorff, 371 F.2d 729, 732 (4th Cir.), 

cert. denied, 386 U.S. 982 (1967). As this Court has recognized, "[a] judge may ask questions for 

the purpose of clearing up points that seem obscure, and supplying omissions which the interest 

ofjustice demands, but it is not proper that he conduct an extended examination of any witness." 

Ramsey, 208 W.Va. at 742, 542 S.E.2d at 905, quoting, Nash v. Fidelity-Phenix Fire Ins. Co., 

106 W.Va. 672, 679, 146 S.E. 726, 728 (1929). Where, as here, there is an allegation that the 

trial court's conduct prejudiced the rights of a party and jeopardized the impartiality of the jury, 

"a reviewing court is obligated to evaluate 'the entire record and attempt to determine whether 

the conduct of the trial has been such that the jurors have been impressed with the trial judge's 

partiality to one side to the point that this became a factor in the determination of the jury. '" 

Ramsey, 208 W.Va. at 743, 542 S.E.2d· at 906 (citations omitted). Review of the trial court 

judge's questions to witnesses and the entire record of this case establishes the fact that nothing 

about the trial court's questions to witnesses or conduct at trial was improper, much less the type 

of conduct that should be corrected under the "plain error" doctrine absent Petitioner's timely 

objections.6 

6 In his original Motion for New Trial, Petitioner conceded that the trial court's questions "may not have 
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In his Brief, Petitioner points to the following instances where he claims that the "trial 

court's questioning ofwitnesses and conduct gave the jury the appearance that the trial court was 

not impartial and favored Respondent's position,,7: 

1. 	 Petitioner contends that the judge's questions to Richard McNeil (Respondent's 
former employer) and Dave Mills (Respondent's former foreman) elicited 
testimony regarding the "hard physical demands of Respondent's pre-accident 
employment" which support Respondent's claims that he could not return to that 
employment due to the injuries that he sustained in the subject accident. 
(Petitioner's Brief, pp. 13-17). 

2. 	 Petitioner similarly complains about the judge's questions to George Barrett 
(Respondent's vocationalist and economist) concerning Respondent's previous 
employment and the types of jobs that Respondent may currently be qualified to 
do with and without further training. (petitioner's Brief, pp. 17-18). 

3. 	 Petitioner argues that the timing and content of the judge's questions to 
Respondent in which the judge inquired about the type ( s) of exercise that 
Respondent was performing and about Respondent's answers to medical care 
providers who documented his responses to questions concerning his pain were 
prejudicial. (Petitioner'S Brief, pp. 20-21). 

4. 	 Petitioner claims that the trial court judge treated Respondent's economist 
differently than Petitioner's economist by permitting Respondent's economist to 
offer more of his testimony to the jury while off the witness stand and in front of 
his demonstrative chart depicting his opinion of the Respondent's lost wages, 
while directing Petitioner's economist to return to the witness box to answer 
questions from there after discussing his demonstrative chart depicting his 
opinions regarding Respondent's lost wages. (Petitioner'S Brief, pp. 18,21-22). 

Neither these questions nor the record considered as a whole support Petitioner's 

argument that the jury's verdict is unreliable or that his right to a fair trial was compromised. As 

is clear from the citations in the trial transcript highlighted by Petitioner, the questions posed by 

the circuit court judge were conducted in an impartial manner. Petitioner inexplicably contends 

that these questions prejudiced him in that they purportedly had the "effect of eliciting testimony 

favorable to the Respondent and prejudicial to Petitioner." (Petitioner's Brief, p. 1). To the 

had an effect on the jury" and "may not have violated the provisions of Rule 614." (AR 1735, 1745) 

7 (Petitioner's Brief, p. 13). 
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contrary, the questions complained of benignly sought explanation and clarification of testimony 

regarding the work performed by the fence company that was Respondent's prior employer, the 

type(s) ofwork that Respondent may be qualified to perform, and Respondent's condition. 

For example, the trial judge's questions to Richard McNeil were posed after counsel for 

Petitioner objected to leading questions by counsel for Respondent in eliciting a description of 

the job duties of a post-hole digger. (AR 87-88). The trial judge questioned Dave Mills about 

his work with the fence company after Mr. Mills discussed the length of time that some of the 

company's employees had been working with the company (AR 125-127, 133-136) and asked 

this witness to repeat part of an answer that the judge apparently did not hear. (AR 128). The 

judge's brief and limited questions to George Barrett concerning Respondent's previous 

employment and the types of jobs that Respondent may currently be qualified to do with and 

without further training were brief, limited and non-partisan, and were posed after the witness 

made statements concerning Respondent's surgeries, physical therapy, and attempt to return to 

work. The witness' responses to these questions provided no further or different information 

than that which the witness had already provided. (AR 367-369). Finally, questions by the trial 

judge to Respondent simply asked if the Respondent was using "barbells" and attempting to 

"[g]et some flexibility back" when going to the gym, and sought to clarify obscure responses by 

Respondent regarding his answers to medical care providers regarding pain, inquiries that can 

hardly be characterized as prejudicial, particularly given the fact that Petitioner stipulated that 

Respondent suffered injuries and pain as a result of the accident. (AR 572-574). 

Indeed, Petitioner's protestation of supposed prejudice is wholly without merit where, 

along with the issues of liability, causation and medical expenses, Petitioner also stipulated that 

Respondent incurred lost wages and sustained physical pain and mental suffering as a result of 
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Petitioner's negligence. (AR 572-574). In fact, Petitioner's expert, David Soulsby, M.D., like 

Respondent's experts, agreed that Respondent could not return to his previous employment, that 

the knee condition was permanent in nature, and that he would have pain for the rest of his life. 

(AR 509-518). 

Petitioner's claim of prejudice based upon the supposed disparate treatment of the experts 

testifying on behalf of Petitioner and Respondent is equally without merit. The trial court judge 

neither verbally nor by his conduct expressed an opinion on the credibility of these witnesses or 

the weight of the evidence presented by them. Nor did he express directly or indirectly an 

opinion regarding any question of fact to be decided by the jury. The trial court judge's 

questioning and conduct here is, therefore, distinguishable from the conduct found to be 

improper in Nutter, supra, which is relied upon by Petitioner to support his request for a new 

trial. 

Indeed, considering the record as a whole, there is no basis upon which to find the jury's 

verdict to be inherently unreliable. The jury in this case returned a verdict in the amount of 

$548,751.97 in favor of Respondent. This verdict consisted of stipulated medical expenses in the 

amount of $71,947.97, past lost wages of $26,814, future lost wages of $75,000, and past and

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